RECEIVED

Mar 21 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appellate Case No. 2021-000754

Carrol Tremayne Washington,

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ZACHARY W. JONES
S.C. Bar No. 104174
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The court of appeals erred in holding that the solicitor improperly “vouched” for Victim during closing argument, where the solicitor’s challenged comments were appropriately based on the record evidence and appeals to the jurors’ common sense, and where the solicitor never made explicit personal assurances of Victim’s credibility or implied that evidence not presented to the jury corroborated Victim’s testimony.
2. The court of appeals erred in holding that Counsel performed deficiently by failing to object to the solicitor’s alleged vouching, where the line between permissible argument and improper vouching is notoriously imprecise and reasonable lawyers could differ as to whether the solicitor’s challenged comments in this case crossed the line.
3. The court of appeals erred in holding that Respondent was prejudiced by Counsel’s failure to object, where the trial court gave a jury instruction concerning the suspect credibility of child witnesses which this Court has held rendered a prosecutor’s improper vouching harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was arrested following allegations that he sexually abused an eight-year-old girl (“Victim”) during a game of hide-and-seek. Respondent was indicted at the May 2017 term of the Newberry County Grand Jury for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor (2015-GS-36-0546). Charles V. Verner, Esquire (“Counsel”), represented Respondent. Deputy Solicitor Dale Scott and Assistant Solicitor Taylor Daniel, of the Eighth Circuit Solicitor’s Office, prosecuted the case. On February 29, 2016, Respondent proceeded to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. The jury found Respondent guilty as indicted on March 2, 2016. Judge Hocker sentenced Respondent to twenty-five years’ imprisonment.

Respondent filed a timely notice of appeal. Lara M. Caudy, Esquire, of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, submitted a brief and motion to be relieved pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Respondent’s appeal on June 13, 2018. The remittitur was issued on July 2, 2018.

Respondent filed his application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”) on September 10, 2018 (2018-CP-36-00414). He alleged the following grounds for relief in his application:

- A. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel during the guilt phase of the trial
 1. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the amendment of the indictment from criminal sexual conduct with an adult to first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, which increased the maximum sentence
 2. Trial Counsel failed to adequately investigate improper conduct by law enforcement in order to properly challenge the officers’ credibility
 3. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failure to object to leading questions by the prosecutor
 4. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failure to object to impermissible victim impact evidence in the solicitor’s closing argument
 5. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failure to object to the solicitor’s argument that Respondent had lied under oath
 6. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failure to object to impermissible vouching for the credibility of the State’s witnesses during the solicitor’s closing argument

7. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failing to object to the solicitor's improper remarks that the jury could act as the conscience of Newberry County
 8. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel for failing to object to the solicitor's use of improper epithets intended to appeal to the jurors' prejudices and emotions
 9. The totality of Trial counsel's failures throughout the entire trial created a reasonable probability that, but for the cumulative effect of Trial Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different
- B. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel during the sentencing phase of the trial
1. Trial Counsel failed to investigate, develop, and present all available relevant and admissible mitigating evidence
 2. Trial Counsel failed to object to inflammatory and irrelevant evidence presented by the prosecution
 3. Trial Counsel failed to object to the trial court's improper jury charge that the victim's testimony need not be corroborated
- C. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel during the guilt phase of the trial
1. Trial Counsel's cross-examination of a key witness for the State was impeded by Trial Counsel's conflict of interest

On January 18, 2021, Respondent filed an amended application for post-conviction relief by and through counsel Ashley A. McMahan, Esquire, raising the following allegations:

1. Ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel
 - a. Conflict of interest and failure to move for a mistrial once the victim's mother indicated Trial Counsel had represented her in the past
 - b. Failure to object to multiple Golden Rule and vouching statements made during the solicitor's closing argument
 - c. Allowing a juror to be seated that had worked with Respondent and that Respondent had asked repeatedly not to have on the jury

The State filed its return on December 17, 2018, and a virtual evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on January 29, 2021, before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II ("the PCR court"). Respondent was present at the hearing and represented by Ashley McMahan, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General Brianna L. Schill, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the State. At the hearing, Respondent went forward on the allegations raised or restated in his amended application. By written order dated June 21, 2021, and filed July 1, 2021, the PCR court denied and dismissed the application. Respondent thereafter filed a timely notice of appeal. By

and through counsel Victor R. Seeger, Esquire, Respondent filed a petition for writ of certiorari on February 22, 2022. The court of appeals granted Respondent’s petition for a writ of certiorari solely on the issue of Counsel’s failure to object to the solicitor’s closing argument.

On January 15, 2025, the court of appeals reversed the decision of the PCR court. *Washington v. State*, Op. No. 6095 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 15, 2025). The State filed a petition for rehearing, which the court of appeals denied on February 19, 2025. This Petition for a Writ of Certiorari follows.¹

¹ The section of court of appeals’ opinion titled “Factual/Procedural History” adequately summarizes the facts of the case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for PCR matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On appellate review, courts defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record to support them. *Id.* at 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839 (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the lower court. *Id.* at 180–81, 810 S.E.2d at 839–40.

ARGUMENT

- 1. The court of appeals erred in holding that the solicitor improperly “vouched” for Victim during closing argument, where the solicitor’s challenged comments were appropriately based on the record evidence and appeals to the jurors’ common sense, and where the solicitor never made explicit personal assurances of Victim’s credibility or implied that evidence not presented to the jury corroborated Victim’s testimony.**

A solicitor may not vouch for the credibility of a witness based on personal knowledge or other information outside the record. *Matthews v. State*, 350 S.C. 272, 276, 565 S.E.2d 766, 768 (2002). “Vouching” occurs where the prosecutor indicates to the jury that her argument regarding the credibility of a witness is based on something *other* than the evidence admitted—i.e., that the prosecutor “knows something about the credibility of a witness that the jury does not know.” *State v. Busse*, 439 S.C. 104, 109, 886 S.E.2d 208, 211 (2023).

On the other hand, when the solicitor bases her credibility arguments on evidence *within* the record, or on reasonable or common-sense inferences therefrom, no improper vouching occurs. *State v. Caldwell*, 300 S.C. 494, 505, 388 S.E.2d 816, 822 (1990), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Evans*, 371 S.C. 27, 30, 637 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2006); *see also Busse*, 439 S.C. at 109, 886 S.E.2d at 211 (“A prosecutor arguing forcefully during closing argument that the jury should

believe a particular witness is well within her proper role as a zealous advocate, so long as the argument is based on evidence admitted during trial.”). A solicitor has the right to argue to the jury regarding the weight that should be given to a witness’s testimony. *State v. Gibbs*, 438 S.C. 542, 553, 885 S.E.2d 378, 384 (2023). In fact, “a prosecutor is *expected* to comment on the credibility of the witnesses when making a closing argument. Far from improper, . . . doing so is one of the fundamental responsibilities of a lawyer.” *Busse*, 439 S.C. at 111, 886 S.E.2d at 212 (emphasis added). Such comments are especially necessary when the case involves a “swearing contest” between a witness and the defendant. *State v. Raffaldt*, 318 S.C. 110, 115, 456 S.E.2d 390, 393 (1995).

The court of appeals held Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the following language used by the solicitor during closing argument:

I submit to you [Victim] was wholly credible. That she’s only capable of telling the truth. She’s not capable of carrying on a lie to that degree for that long. A child just isn’t capable of doing that. And they tried to crack her under the pressure. They have cross-examination . . . they question her and question her until she cracks and they catch her in a lie. They couldn’t do it. And a child will fold under a cross-examination because they’re not capable of lying to that degree and to that extent and her story was consistent.

(App.p.354, lines 14–23) (emphases added by the court of appeals). The Court repeatedly characterized the solicitor’s comments as mere “assurances that all children of Victim’s age are incapable of lying” and “that it was impossible for her to be untruthful.” However, in the context of the entire argument, this is simply not a reasonable reading of the challenged comments.

The solicitor repeatedly qualified his position with the phrases “*to that degree*,” “*for that long*,” and “*to that extent*.” There is no way to read the solicitor’s challenged comments without first giving meaning to those phrases, and there is no way to understand those phrases without referring back to previous points the solicitor had already made about the possibility that Victim

was lying. Those previous points include the following:

[I]t's been consistently testified to by [Victim] from the time she did the forensic interview to yesterday when she was in here. I just want to—do any of you people truly believe an eight, nine, 10-year-old is capable of concocting something like this[?] Going someplace like the Dickerson Center, sitting alone in a room with a perfect stranger and disclosing all these things in great detail like she did, and then months later, almost a year later come in this courtroom. . . . You're complete strangers to her. And she had to sit up here and besides y'all and she had to look out here at all these people and the person who did this to her and she had to again speak in great detail about this sort of thing. And that's a 10-year-old girl. . . . For what? What's the agenda? What's the motivation for making this up? Have you heard one? Has anyone heard one? She lived [*sic*] going to Whitmire. . . . Never had a problem with [Respondent] before this. What's the motivation? Did that occur to you guys when you were hearing it?

(App.p.346, line 19–p.347, line 17).

There's no agenda here. There's absolutely no motivation for this girl to concoct this story. This story has been consistent from the very get go from the initial allegation to the times—you all going [*sic*] to get to watch that forensic interview as much as you all want to, by the way, and you're going to find, and you can compare it to her testimony yesterday, that it's wholly consistent. Is a nine, 10-year-old capable of doing that[?] You know, if you're lying, you got to be good at it. If you're lying you got to remember what the lie is so you can carry it on. You know what I'm saying? But if you tell the truth you don't have to do all that because you remember what happened. If you're telling the truth your story is going to be consistent. The big part's going to be consistent, and that's what you're going to find when you watch that forensic interview and you remember how she testified yesterday. She's talking about things here that a nine-year-old doesn't probably really know about. She uses terms like a heinie. She didn't even have, I guess, a word for her genitalia. She's every [*sic*] naïve. She's very young. But she's describing those things we know sometimes child abusers do.

(App.p.349, lines 1–22).

A nine, 10-year-old doesn't know that kind of thing because they don't understand things sexual in nature to that degree. And then she's describing the intrusion. . . . [Y]ou could tell the shame in her voice. You could tell the shame in her demeanor while she's up

here. . . . How would an eight, nine, 10-year-old know to talk about something like that?

(App.p.350, lines 2–23).

But why make this up if you're a 10-year-old girl and continue it? What does she have to gain from this? Did that ever occur to you guys? What is the end game here for a 10-year-old[?] I mean, it would have been very easy just to say I don't want to do this anymore. I forgot. I can't remember what happened. Just make it stop. I don't want to do this. There ain't no motivation here.

(App.p.351, lines 1–8).

These extensive arguments concerning Victim's credibility were properly based on the record and reasonable inferences therefrom. The solicitor argued that Victim's story remained consistent from the day of her forensic interview until the day she testified, nearly a year later, and he invited the jury to review the forensic interview during its deliberations and compare it with her testimony at trial. (App.p.346, line 19–p.347, line 2; p.349, lines 3–17). He asked the jurors whether any of them truly believed a girl as young as Victim could come up with such a consistent and detailed account if it were not true. (App.p.346, lines 22–23; p.349, line 8). He argued that nine- and ten-year-olds are typically too ignorant of sexual matters to invent a detailed lie about sexual abuse, and he pointed out that Victim did not appear to even have sexual words in her vocabulary but described her assault using childish terms like "heinie." (App.p.349, lines 17–20). He discussed the details of Victim's account and asked the jury to consider whether a child of Victim's age would even know how to talk about those acts unless they had actually happened. (App.p.349, line 21–p.350, line 23). He pointed out that Victim had no motive to lie, that her demeanor on the stand suggested she was ashamed of being victimized, and that Victim had ample opportunity to avoid the stress and embarrassment of testifying merely by withdrawing her accusation, but she never did. (App.p.347, lines 4–8; p.350, lines 6–8; p.351, lines 1–8).

Then, immediately before the portion of the argument the court of appeals deemed improper, the solicitor expressly reminded the jurors that the determination of witness credibility was their responsibility. He again asked the jurors to consider Victim’s demeanor on the stand and to evaluate her testimony in light of their own views about children’s capabilities:

And that’s going to be up to y’all to decide who was credible and who was not. That’s one of your jobs. And to determine this case you’re going to decide whose story do I believe. . . . [Victim] got up there and you saw her demeanor. You saw her trying to testify and you saw her taking a deep, swallowing hard before she testified. Is that something you think the average nine, 10-year-old is capable of doing, coming in here and swearing on that Bible telling that story in front of you all[?]

(App.p.353, line 23–p.354, line 13).

These arguments were perfectly appropriate. None of these arguments were based on mere “assurances” by the solicitor; on the contrary, the solicitor repeatedly asked the jurors what *they* thought about Victim’s testimony: “[D]o any of *you* people truly believe an eight, nine, 10-year-old is capable of concocting something like this[?] . . . What’s the motivation for making this up? Have *you* heard one? . . . What’s the motivation? Did that occur to *you* guys when *you* were hearing it? . . . How would an eight, nine, 10-year-old know to talk about something like that? . . . What does she have to gain from this? Did that ever occur to *you* guys? . . . Is that something *you* think the average nine, 10-year-old is capable of doing[?]” (emphasis added). Far from substituting the government’s view of Victim’s credibility for that of the jury, the solicitor was clearly *inviting* the jury to apply its *own* common sense, collective experience and knowledge of children’s capabilities to the question of Victim’s credibility.²

² Near the conclusion of the solicitor’s closing argument, he expressly urged the jury to apply its own collective experience to the determination of the case: “And you’re going to put all 12 of your minds together[.] And you’re going to put all 12 of your recollections together, *and you're going*

Arguments based on common knowledge, common sense, and appeals to jurors' own life experiences are not improper; they have always been considered reasonable inferences from the evidence in the record. *See, e.g., State v. New*, 338 S.C. 313, 526 S.E.2d 237 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding solicitor's argument that the State's key witness, a jailhouse informant, would be considered a "rat" in prison, would not be treated well, and had "everything to lose" as a result of his testimony did not improperly bolster the witness or go outside the record because it was based on "common knowledge"); *Caldwell*, 300 S.C. at 505–06, 388 S.E.2d at 822–23 (holding solicitor's argument that defendant's relatives, who testified for the State, were credible because it took "fortitude" for them to testify against a member of their own family was not improper bolstering, but was a "common sense" conclusion from the evidence in the record). Courts from all over the nation agree with this sensible principle. *See, e.g., People v. Mendoza*, 62 Cal. 4th 856, 908, 365 P.3d 297, 336 (2016) (prosecutor who argued "that no one who intentionally kills in a domestic setting is in a normal or calm state of mind" was not alluding to evidence unknown to the jury or trading on the prestige of his office, but was properly appealing to common sense); *State v. Martinez*, 319 Conn. 712, 735–36, 127 A.3d 164, 177 (2015) (prosecutor's comment that defendant's giving drugs and money to his codefendant was the "logical" thing for a drug dealer to do was not unsupported testimony about the *modus operandi* of drug dealers, but was a permissible appeal to the jury's own "experience, intuition, and common sense"); *State v. Warholic*, 278 Conn. 354, 365–66, 897 A.2d 569, 581–82 (2006) (prosecutor's argument—that

to put all that lifetime experience that each one of you have and you're going to combine it." (App.p.355, lines 13–17) (emphasis added). Again, this exhortation by the solicitor proves that the general thrust of his closing argument was to submit the factual issues in this case, including the issue of Victim's credibility, to the judgment of the jury.

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