STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

May 25 2022

CERTIORARI TO NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2021-000754

Carrol Tremayne Washington,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ZACHARY W. JONES
S.C. Bar No. 104174
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court correctly found Trial Counsel was not ineffective during his cross-examination of the complaining minor’s mother because he was not representing conflicting interests at that time and his prior representation of the witness did not adversely affect his representation of Petitioner.**

The PCR court’s finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective due to a conflict of interest when cross-examining the victim’s mother, notwithstanding the fact Trial Counsel had represented the witness in a divorce proceeding many years earlier, was correct because Trial Counsel was not representing competing interests at the time of Petitioner’s trial and Petitioner failed to show that his representation was adversely affected by Trial Counsel’s prior representation.

Petitioner was accused of molesting a minor (“Victim”) on multiple occasions when she would come over to play at his apartment. At trial, the State called Nicole Simms, Victim’s mother, who testified Victim began behaving strangely in 2014 and did not want to visit the apartment complex where Petitioner lived anymore. (App.pp.114–22). On cross-examination, Trial Counsel asked Simms if her children ever hid in the closet to avoid visitation with Simms’ ex-husband, Christopher Thompson, and Simms acknowledged they did. (App.p.126, line 23–p.127, line 4). Trial Counsel then asked if Simms told investigators that one of her children was being molested by someone in Thompson’s family. (App.p.127, lines 5–7). Simms denied making that statement, claimed her oldest daughter told a counselor about “something” happening to Victim, and then stated, “You ought to know, because you was my divorce lawyer and you bringing up something in my divorce.” (App.p.127, lines 12–16). Trial Counsel and Simms began talking over one another, with Trial Counsel attempting to ask questions and

Simms insisting Trial Counsel was the lawyer who represented her in her divorce from Christopher Thompson. (App.p.127, line 17–p.128, line 2). After the trial court admonished Simms to wait for Trial Counsel to finish his question before answering, Trial Counsel asked again whether Simms ever told investigators that her oldest daughter had been abused by a family member. (App.p.128, lines 3–11). Simms again denied making such a statement, but she acknowledged stating her oldest daughter “did make an exaggeration about something happening to her little sister” at their father’s house. (App.p.128, lines 12–14). Trial Counsel did not ask Simms any more questions.

At the evidentiary hearing before the PCR court, Trial Counsel testified he learned after the trial that he had represented Nicole Simms in an uncontested divorce action in 2006 or 2007, when she was known as Nicole Thompson. (App.p.467, lines 2–9). Trial Counsel stated he did not recognize Simms during the trial because so much time had passed since the divorce proceeding and Simms had changed her name. (App.p.467, lines 10–18). Trial Counsel testified that Simms was not involved with Petitioner at the time of her divorce from Christopher Thompson and that no disputes as to custody or property arose during the representation. (App.p.467, line 18–p.468, line 15). Trial Counsel remembered being caught off guard when Simms told him he had been her divorce lawyer. (App.p.469, lines 4–13). Although he acknowledged Simms was the victim’s mother, Trial Counsel thought Simms’ testimony was not important to the outcome of Petitioner’s case. (App.p.481, lines 8–17).

An attorney who represents conflicting interests breaches the basic duty of loyalty; in such cases, a PCR applicant is not required to show prejudice in the traditional *Strickland* sense of “a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Gonzales v. State*, 419 S.C. 2, 9–10, 795 S.E.2d 835, 839 (2017), *abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v.*

State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). Rather, prejudice is presumed if the applicant proves that counsel actively represented conflicting interests and that this actual conflict of interest adversely affected counsel’s performance. *Id.* at 10, 795 S.E.2d at 839. An “actual conflict of interest” occurs where a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, i.e., if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client. *Id.* (citing *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 449, 752 S.E.2d 538, 541 (2013)). The PCR applicant bears the burden of proving an actual conflict of interest existed and that it necessitates relief. *Id.* The mere possibility of a conflict is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction. *Lomax v. State*, 379 S.C. 93, 101, 665 S.E.2d 164, 168 (2008), *abrogated on other grounds by Smalls*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836.

In this case, Simms was no longer a client of Trial Counsel; Trial Counsel stopped representing Simms in early 2007, many years before Petitioner’s arrest. Trial Counsel’s representation of Simms concerned a simple uncontested divorce, which did not involve any custody issues and which consequently had nothing to do with Victim, with Petitioner, or with any matter relevant to the State’s case against Petitioner. Based on these facts, the PCR court correctly found Trial Counsel did not “actively represent conflicting interests” because Trial Counsel owed no duty to Simms that could have negatively affected his representation of Petitioner. *See Gonzales*, 419 S.C. at 10, 795 S.E.2d at 839. Because the PCR court’s finding was based on evidence of probative value, it must be upheld pursuant to this Court’s deferential standard of review for PCR cases. *Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527.

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel still had a duty of confidentiality toward Simms, which adversely affected his performance by preventing him from adequately cross-examining her.

Petitioner claims his main defense at trial was that Victim mistakenly accused him of sexual abuse that was actually committed by Christopher Thompson. He argues Trial Counsel could not pursue that defense because his ongoing duty of confidentiality made him cut short his questioning of Simms after he realized Simms was his former client. This argument is conclusively refuted by the trial transcript. Even after Simms told Trial Counsel that he had represented her in her divorce from Christopher Thompson, Trial Counsel continued asking Simms whether she had ever accused Thompson of molesting her children, and Simms clearly replied she had not. (App.p.127, line 5–p.128, line 14). Evidently, Trial Counsel did *not* believe his questioning of Simms on this point violated the duty of confidentiality. This fact accords with Trial Counsel’s testimony at the PCR hearing that his earlier representation of Simms did not concern any issues related to Thompson’s custody of Simms’ children. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Trial Counsel did have an ongoing duty of confidentiality toward Simms, such a duty clearly did not prevent him from trying to advance Petitioner’s defense theory. Therefore, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to show that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected Trial Counsel’s performance. *See Gonzales*, 419 S.C. at 10, 795 S.E.2d at 839. Consequently, the presumption of prejudice articulated in *Gonzales* does not apply.¹

¹ In addition, cases like *Gonzales*, *Lomax*, and *State v. Gregory*, 364 S.C. 150, 612 S.E.2d 449 (2005), in which the South Carolina Supreme Court held prejudice must be presumed due to a conflict of interest, concerned “multiple concurrent representation,” i.e., the simultaneous representation of multiple clients during the same proceeding. Petitioner’s case, by contrast, concerns “successive representation,” i.e., representation of a client at a proceeding involving a previous client. The Supreme Court of the United States has recognized this distinction and has never extended the presumption of prejudice to cases of successive representation. *See Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162, 175–76 (2002) (declining to address whether the presumption of prejudice for cases involving multiple concurrent representation, where prejudice is highly probable and difficult to prove, should extend to cases involving successive representation, which do not present comparable difficulties). Therefore, even if Petitioner’s case involved an

In the absence of a presumption of prejudice, Petitioner must show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the results of his trial would likely have been different but for Trial Counsel's alleged deficiencies. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Petitioner introduced no evidence to support his contention that, had Trial Counsel more thoroughly cross-examined Simms, Simms would have changed her testimony and accused Thompson of molesting Victim. *See Martin v. State*, 427 S.C. 450, 455, 832 S.E.2d 277, 280 (2019) (holding mere speculation as to what a witness's testimony would have been cannot satisfy a PCR applicant's burden of showing prejudice). Therefore, because no actual conflict of interest justified a presumption of prejudice in this case, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden. This Court, therefore, should deny Petitioner's petition for a writ of certiorari as to this issue.

II. The PCR court properly found Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument because the solicitor neither made personal assurances of the victim's credibility nor asked the jurors to put themselves in the victim's shoes.

The PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument was correct because the solicitor never vouched for the credibility of Victim and never asked the jurors to put themselves in Victim's shoes.

The assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury. *Tappeiner v. State*, 416 S.C. 239, 250, 785 S.E.2d 471, 476 (2016). A solicitor may argue the credibility of the State's witnesses if the argument is based on the record or its reasonable

actual conflict of interest adversely affecting Trial Counsel's performance, it is not clear that Petitioner should be excused from making the traditional *Strickland* showing of prejudice.

inferences; however, a solicitor may not vouch for the credibility of a witness based on personal knowledge or other information outside the record. *Matthews v. State*, 350 S.C. 272, 276, 565 S.E.2d 766, 768 (2002). Improper comments do not automatically require reversal; an applicant must prove the solicitor’s comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. *Humphries v. State*, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002).

At Petitioner’s trial, the solicitor began his closing argument with the following language:

Sometimes, if you listen carefully, the softest voices speak the loudest. Sometimes the words of the smallest carry the greatest weight. There are times that a voice like this cries out from the dark begging to be heard, asking to be believed. And this is what a child in this case looks like. . . . Will you believe the soft voice of the meek whose message rings the loudest, or are you going to believe the voice of the taker?

(App.p.343, line 25–p.344, line 13). He later noted the consistency between Victim’s statements at the forensic interview and the testimony she gave in court, and he asked the jurors whether they truly believed “an eight, nine, 10-year-old is capable of concocting something like this.” (App.p.346, lines 19–23; p.349, lines 3–8). He also pointed out most children of Victim’s age wouldn’t know enough about sex to be able to fabricate as detailed an account of sexual abuse as the one Victim gave. (App.p.349, line 17–p.350, line 4). He also stated that it took courage for Victim to testify in court, stating, “I can’t imagine being in her shoes.” (App.p.347, lines 2–9). He emphasized that neither Victim nor her family had any motive to frame Petitioner for sexual abuse. (App.p.347, lines 10–17; p.348, line 15–p.349, line 3; p.351, lines 1–8). He also noted Victim did not change her story despite the pressure of cross-examination, stating “a child will fold under a cross-examination because they’re not capable of lying to that degree and to that extent.” (App.p.354, lines 18–23).

The solicitor noted that the question of who was credible was up to the jury. (App.p.353, lines 23–24). He asked again whether the jury thought “the average nine, 10-year-old is capable of . . . coming in here and swearing on the Bible [and] telling that story like that in front of you all.” (App.p.354, lines 11–13). He then stated, “I submit to you she was wholly credible. That she’s only capable of telling the truth. She’s not capable of carrying on a lie to that degree for that long. A child just isn’t capable of doing that.” (App.p.354, lines 14–18).

Trial Counsel did not object to any portion of the solicitor’s closing argument. At the PCR hearing, Trial Counsel testified he reviewed the solicitor’s argument and did not see anything that he thought clearly crossed a line. (App.p.473, line 21–p.474, line 17).

Petitioner argues the solicitor’s comments regarding Victim’s credibility constituted improper vouching because the solicitor explicitly assured the jury that Victim was “wholly credible” and claimed she was incapable of lying; therefore, Petitioner contends Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to them. However, the solicitor never suggested the jury should believe Victim because the solicitor personally knew she was credible based on information outside the record, which is the definition of vouching. *See Matthews*, 350 S.C. at 276, 565 S.E.2d at 768. Rather, all of the solicitor’s arguments concerning Victim’s credibility were based on reasonable inferences from the record. The solicitor made several arguments for Victim’s credibility: that Victim’s testimony was consistent with her forensic interview, that Victim’s account was too detailed to have been concocted by a child without any sexual experience, that Victim had no motive to falsely accuse Petitioner, and that Victim would have “cracked” under the pressure of cross-examination if she had not been telling the truth. All of these arguments are reasonable inferences from the testimony presented at trial. When the solicitor said, “I submit to you she was wholly credible,” it was in the context of these evidence-

based arguments; nothing about that statement would have suggested to the jury that the solicitor had some personal knowledge of Victim's credibility based on information outside the record. Therefore, the solicitor's comments did not constitute improper vouching, and Trial Counsel was not deficient for failing to object to them. *See id.*

Petitioner also argues, in a footnote, that the solicitor made a "Golden Rule" argument. *See Brown v. State*, 383 S.C. 506, 515–16, 680 S.E.2d 909, 914 (2009) (holding a "Golden Rule" argument is one that asks the jurors to place themselves in the victim's shoes; such arguments are improper because they tend to completely destroy the jury's impartiality). While Petitioner admits the solicitor never expressly asked the jurors to place themselves in Victim's shoes, he argues the solicitor "implicitly invite[d] them to do so" when he stated, during closing argument, "I can't imagine being in her shoes." (App.p.347, lines 8–9). However, in context, that statement was made to emphasize how trying it must have been for Victim to testify in court, which was part of the solicitor's argument that Victim had no motive to make up a false accusation. (App.p.347, lines 2–13). Therefore, the statement was intended to complement the solicitor's evidence-based argument, not to replace evidence with bias and personal interest, as "Golden Rule" arguments do. *See Brown*, 383 S.C. at 516, 680 S.E.2d at 915 (citing *State v. Reese*, 359 S.C. 260, 271, 597 S.E.2d 169, 175 (Ct. App. 2004)). The mere mention of "shoes" does not convert an otherwise proper argument into an improper "Golden Rule" statement.

The PCR court correctly ruled the solicitor's arguments constituted neither improper vouching nor "Golden Rule" arguments. Therefore, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to prove his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to them. Because substantial probative evidence supports that finding, this Court should not disturb the

PCR court's ruling denying relief to Petitioner. *Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527.

Accordingly, this Court should deny Petitioner's petition for a writ of certiorari as to this issue.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

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